FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 3/30/2020 9:27 AM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/30/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 98343-7 Court of Appeals Case No. 79333-1-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CAPE ST. MARY ASSOCIATES,

Appellant,

v.

SAN JUAN COUNTY,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Karl F. Oles, WSBA #16401 STOEL RIVES LLP 600 University Street, Suite 3600 Seattle, WA 98101 206.624.0900

Attorneys for Petitioner

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Cape St. Mary Associates asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The subject of this petition is the decision of the Court of Appeals,
Division One, filed March 2, 2020. A copy of the decision is in the
Appendix at pages 1-19. No reconsideration was requested.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Can Washington citizens rely on public property records to define the lawful use of properties they own or purchase, or are they at risk of unrecorded restrictions because government officials, decades earlier, wished to impose them?

Petitioner owns a 90-acre lot (the "Ranch Tract") in a San Juan County subdivision formed in 1981. The lots in the subdivision are governed by official documents approved by the County (the "Plat"). The Plat does not limit the use or subdivision of the Ranch Tract. Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals held that the Ranch Tract use is restricted and that it may not be subdivided. The Court of Appeals reached this result in reliance on evidence that County officials, back in 1981, wished to impose these restrictions, though their wishes were not reflected on the Plat.

The Court of Appeals' decision is contrary to multiple decisions of the Washington Supreme Court and it raises a critical issue for property owners and purchasers across the state: can they rely on public property records to state the lawful uses of property, or are they subject to the unrecorded and unilateral wishes of long-gone officials?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case relates to the Cape St. Mary Estates ("CSME") subdivision in San Juan County Washington. Owners of that property applied in 1978 for approval to subdivide and submitted a plat map showing 65 acres divided into 29 lots. CP 27. The San Juan County Commissioners refused to approve the application unless the density was reduced, even though the average density already met existing requirements. The applicants challenged the County in court and obtained a new hearing. At the new hearing, the County did not demand an express density restriction, but it refused to approve the CSME subdivision unless an adjoining 90-acre property (the Ranch Tract) was included. CP 69-71, 174.

The CSME owners reluctantly acquiesced and submitted a revised application showing the enlarged subdivision with the Ranch Tract added

¹ See the Appendix, p. 2.

as Lot 30. CP 44. The County approved the revised application and it became the official Plat of the subdivision. The County's resolution approving the Plat listed no conditions on approval. CP 73.

The face of the Plat includes a list of numbered "Restrictions."²

None of the Restrictions affects the use of the Ranch Tract except in ways not relevant here.³ Restriction #4 expressly contemplates future subdivision of the lots:

Under any replat which further divides any lot, the plat road(s) shall be constructed to comply with the currently adopted minimum standards . . .

After the Plat was approved, thirty years went by. Then, in 2016, Petitioner expressed interest in subdividing the Ranch Tract to form residential lots averaging 10 acres each. The San Juan County Department of Community Development refused to consider an application unless it included the signatures of the lot 1-29 owners. CP 27-33. This determination was reviewed by a Hearing Examiner, who issued findings and conclusions supporting the County's position. CP 573-596. The Hearing Examiner said (CP 591):

In construing "restrictions" that apply to a plat, it was reasonable and appropriate for the Director to ascertain the

² A copy of the "Restrictions" is at CP 42 and in the Appendix at p. 20.

³ Restriction #14 prohibits certain activities near an existing well.

intent of the County Council when it approved the final plat . . .

Petitioner objected that a plat must be interpreted according to the intent of the <u>dedicator</u>, not the government, and that no one's subjective intent should be used to override or add to the objective terms of a plat.

These errors were presented to the Skagit County Superior Court, but that court simply rubber-stamped the Hearing Examiner's findings and conclusions. CP 599-600.

The Court of Appeals did not correct the errors of the Hearing Examiner, it embraced them. It too relied on evidence from outside the official property records to discern the County's subjective intentions.

The first part of the Court of Appeals' decision (Appendix pp. 2-4) recites that in 1981 the County tried to impose density restrictions on the CSME subdivision and the dedicators objected, even going to court. The Court of Appeals found it "[o]f significance to this case" that the County's Planning Commission recommended including the Ranch Tract in the CSME subdivision, "subject to all restrictions and covenants, including that it be for agricultural purposes – not residential." Appendix pp. 2-3. But it is undisputed that this recommendation was never included in the Plat or in the County's resolution approving the Plat. It was invisible to anyone researching the official property records.

Recognizing that the Plat itself imposed no restrictions on the Ranch Tract, the Court of Appeals seized on a note following the numbered Restrictions, which provides:

For further restrictions, see the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Easements, Liens, and Restrictions for Cape St. Mary Estates as recorded at Auditor's File No. 117735, records of San Juan County, Washington.

This "CC&R Note" refers to a set of private covenants (CC&Rs) relating to the subdivision. The CC&Rs were distinct from and not intended to be part of the Plat. Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals held that the CC&R Note had the effect of incorporating the CC&Rs by reference, so that they became part of the Plat (Appendix p. 8). This was implausible enough, but the Court of Appeals went on to hold that only some of the CC&Rs were incorporated, namely, the ones that favored the subjective wishes of County officials in 1981. Thus, the Court of Appeals held that only the following part of CC&R Article VIII (CP 93-94) was incorporated:

The Cape Saint Mary Ranch Tract, as designated on the plat, is associated with the plat of Cape Saint Mary Estates for a limited purpose and is not subject to the covenants, conditions, and restrictions of or dedicated as part of that part of the plat known as Cape Saint Mary Estates, Lots 1 through 29. However, the Cape Saint Mary Ranch Tract is subject to the immediately following covenants and restrictions:

(1) The tract is to be used primarily for agricultural purposes.⁴

The Court of Appeals ignored the rest of that same Article, which expressly contemplated future subdivision of the Ranch Tract:

(2) Any application for subdivision of the Cape St. Mary Ranch Tract shall be in accordance with then applicable state and local requirements.

The Court of Appeals also ignored CC&R Article XIII.D (CP 98), which expressly permitted subdivision:

In the event of subdivision of the Cape Saint Mary Ranch Tract, currently associated with the plat of Cape Saint Mary Estates, the new lots thereby created shall automatically create membership rights in the Cape Saint Mary Association subject to the terms and conditions of membership set forth in this declaration.

Based on this one-sided approach to the evidence, for which there was no warrant at all in the CC&R Note, the Court of Appeals concluded (Appendix p. 15) that "subdividing the Ranch Tract would violate a covenant that is a plat restriction." This despite the fact that both the Plat and the CC&Rs expressly contemplated subdividing the Ranch Tract!

⁴ In 1985, Article VIII (renumbered as Article VII) was amended to state that the Ranch Tract could be used for "agricultural or residential" purposes (CP 248-270, particularly p. 262). Every current owner of Lots 1-29 took title under this amended provision (CP 111-147, 441-443).

In a nutshell, the Court of Appeals held that the Plat's inclusion of the CC&R Note that referred to covenants <u>permitting</u> subdivision of the Ranch Tract, had the effect of <u>prohibiting</u> subdivision of the Ranch Tract. This perverse interpretation resulted entirely from the Court's determination to effectuate the subjective and decades-old wishes of County officials.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Roeder Co. v. Burlington N., Inc., 105 Wn.2d 269, 273, 714 P.2d 1170 (1986) holds that when construing a plat the <u>dedicator's</u> intent controls and that the plat language is the best evidence of that intent. The Court of Appeals cited this rule (Appendix p. 8) but plainly violated it.

The record shows unambiguously that in 1981 it was the County that wished to impose density restrictions and the dedicators who objected.

The approved Plat contains no density restriction and it expressly contemplates future subdivision of lots. The contemporaneous CC&Rs, by discussing the consequences if the Ranch Tract in particular was subdivided in the future, expressly permitted such subdivision.⁵ There is no competent evidence supporting the conclusion that the <u>dedicators</u>

⁵ Cf. Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Ass'n, 180 Wn.2d 241, 251, 327 P.3d 614 (2014) (drafters of covenants "specifically anticipated and permitted rentals when they restricted the size of rental signs residents could hang").

intended to limit subdivision of the Ranch Tract. All the evidence is to the contrary.

Hollis v. Garwall, Inc., 137 Wn.2d 683, 695, 974 P.2d 836 (1999) holds that when construing a plat a court may consider extrinsic evidence, but only to illuminate what was written on the plat, not to add to or show any party's intention independent of the instrument. The Court of Appeals violated this rule when it based its decision on extrinsic evidence of the County's subjective intent that was not reflected in – and in fact contrary to – the words of the Plat. Similar evidence was ruled inadmissible in Hollis. Without the inadmissible evidence, there was no reason to read the CC&R Note as more than simple notice that private covenants existed.⁶

The Court of Appeals' decision involves issues of substantial public interest. Washington has an official system for recording property titles and transactions. Property owners, purchasers, and title companies have a right to rely on that recorded information. *See Olson v. Trippel*, 77 Wn. App. 545, 550-51, 893 P.2d 634 (1995). The recording system is

⁶ In *Shaffer v. Board of Trustees of Sandy Hook Yacht Club Estates, Inc.*, 76 Wn. App. 267, 274, 883 P.2d 1387 (Div. 1, 1994), the plat included a note referring to further "restrictions" imposed by the subdivision's managing corporation. The court held that this note was not a plat restriction, but simply "a provision that notifies interested parties that certain power has been reserved by the Corporation to adopt regulations, reservations, and restrictions."

made useless if a court may impose restrictions not found in the official records on the ground that, decades earlier, some government official wished to impose them. If this decision stands, thousands of properties in Washington will be at risk of arbitrary and unrecorded restrictions and the utility of the state-wide property recording system will be destroyed.

VI. CONCLUSION

The Plat does not restrict the use or subdivision of the Ranch Tract. In deciding that such restrictions exist, the Court of Appeals relied on extrinsic evidence of the County's unilateral and subjective intent, independent of and actually contrary to the Plat's terms. This violated well-settled principles of Washington law. If the Court of Appeals' decision stands, then a purchaser of property would not be able to rely on the recorded plat because there might be other "intended" restrictions not recorded there. The public is entitled to rely on what is written, not what was intended (unilaterally, by one party) to be written.