FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/14/2020 1:17 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 98343-7

Court of Appeals No. 79333-1-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CAPE ST. MARY ASSOCIATES,

Appellant,

v.

SAN JUAN COUNTY,

Respondent

RESPONDENTS-INTERVENORS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DAVID A. BRICKLIN WSBA No. 7583 Bricklin & Newman, LLP 1424 Fourth Avenue, Suite 500 Seattle, WA 98101 PH: 206-264-8600

FAX: 206-264-9300 bricklin@bnd-law.com

ALEXANDER A. SIDLES
WSBA No. 52832
Bricklin & Newman, LLP
1424 Fourth Avenue, Suite 500
Seattle, WA 98101
PH: 206-264-8600
FAX: 206-264-9300
sidles@bnd-law.com

Attorneys for Respondents-Intervenors Dobmeier et al.

II. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The appellant frames the issue presented for review in catastrophic terms:

Can Washington citizens rely on public property records to define the lawful use of properties they own or purchase, or are they at risk of unrecorded restrictions because government officials, decades earlier, wished to impose them?

In reality, this case does not raise any such fundamental issue of property rights. Instead, this case involves the simple question of whether a plat may incorporate restrictions by reference to another document on the face of the plat.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Cape St. Mary Estates is a 30-lot subdivision on Lopez Island, San Juan County, Washington. Appellant Cape St. Mary Associates owns the "Ranch Tract," the single largest lot in the subdivision. The Ranch Tract is an approximately 90-acre lot containing two small residences. Each of the next 28 lots is a small lot containing one residence each. The final lot is a drainfield, not relevant to this case.

The plat of Cape St. Mary Estates contains a number of restrictions on its face, numbered 1 through 14. Below these is an unnumbered restriction that says:

For further restriction, see the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Easements, Liens, and Restrictions for Cape St. Mary Estates as recorded at Auditor's File No. 117735, records of San Juan County, Washington.

CP 42. (The copy of the plat in the record is nearly illegible. This restriction is quoted in the Examiner's decision. CP 577 (finding of fact 6).)¹

The document explicitly incorporated into the plat by reference to its recording number (AF 117735) is titled: "Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Easements, Liens, and Restrictions for Cape St. Mary Estates" (hereinafter "Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions" or "Declaration"). That recorded Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions contains a heading, "MISCELLANEOUS USE RESTRICTIONS ON THE CAPE ST. MARY RANCH TRACT." (The capitalization is in the original.) Under that heading, restriction number 1 says, "[The Ranch Tract] is to be used primarily for agricultural purposes." CP 93 (excerpt of AF 117735, showing restrictions); CP 577 (finding of fact 9).

The plat has never been amended to remove the reference to the Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions in San Juan County record AF 117735. *See* CP 577 (finding of fact 10). Accordingly, the Court of Appeals held that the record, including the recorded, cross-referenced Declaration's restriction of the Ranch Tract to agricultural purposes, applies to the plat. Decision at 8.

For the court's convenience, the plat restrictions are attached to this brief as Appendix A (as they were to the petitioner's opening brief filed in the court of appeals).

Under RCW 58.17.212 and 215, if a plat is subject to restrictive covenants which were filed at the time of the approval of the subdivision, and the application for alteration or vacation of the subdivision would result in the violation of a covenant, the application shall contain an agreement signed by all parties subject to the covenants agreeing to the subdivision or alteration. Therefore, the Court concluded, under RCW 58.17.212 and 215, any application to vacate or alter the Ranch Tract must include the signatures of all parties in the subdivision providing that the parties agree to the vacation or alteration. Decision at 15.

This was also the conclusion of the Skagit County Superior Court, the San Juan County Hearing Examiner, and the San Juan County land use permitting staff who first issued a land use code interpretation at the request of Cape St. Mary Associates. *See* CP 572–596 (hearing examiner); 597–598 (superior court); 27–41 (permitting staff code interpretation).

In its petition for review, Cape St. Mary Associates claims there is no way an innocent landowner, reviewing the face of the plat, could determine that the restrictions in AF 117735 apply to the subdivision. *See, e.g.*, Pet. for Rev. at 1 ("...[landowners] at risk of unrecorded restrictions because government officials, decades earlier, wished to impose them").

In reality, there is no confusion about the restrictions that apply to the Ranch Tract. The face of the plat has always directed the reader to a

recorded document (AF 117735 – the Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions) "for further restrictions." Within the Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions, the restriction of the Ranch Tract to agricultural purposes is listed under a large, all-capitalized heading of "MISCELLANEOUS USE RESTRICTIONS ON THE CAPE ST. MARY RANCH TRACT." CP 93. There is no danger of confusion here, even for a reader unfamiliar with the plat. All the reader of the plat must do is consult the document explicitly cross-referenced with a specific recording number on the face of the plat as a source of further restrictions.

Even more remote is the possibility that Cape St. Mary Associates (the appellant) was confused about the restriction, because Stuart and Ilse Oles (identified as members of Cape St. Mary Associates at CP 16) were among the parties that applied for the plat and also among the parties that recorded the agricultural use restriction in the Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions. *Compare* CP 77 (signatories of plat) *with* CP 98 (signatories of Declaration). In fact, all of the signatories of the Declaration were also signatories of the plat. *Id*.

As the hearing examiner noted, Cape St. Mary Associates did not willingly restrict the Ranch Tract to agricultural use. They were compelled to do so when the County informed them that the proposed subdivision would only be approved if the 90-acre Ranch Tract were included in the

subdivision to lower the overall density of the subdivision. *See* CP 579 (hearing examiner findings of facts 14 and 15). To effectuate the goal of reducing the subdivision's density, the County insisted that the Ranch Tract be restricted to "agricultural use, not residential." *See* CP 584–588 (findings 30–50). Cape St. Mary Associates was unhappy with the County's requirement but ultimately acceded to it. *See* CP 587 (finding 43). Thus, any purported confusion on the part of Cape St. Mary Associates about the meaning and purpose of the use restriction in AF 117735 is only a fiction.

In the decades since the plat was recorded, Cape St. Mary Associates never sought to remove the reference to AF 117735 from the face of the plat. Instead, in 1985, four years after the plat was recorded (with the reference on its face to the Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions in AF 117735), Cape St. Mary Associates recorded a new, amended set of covenants for the subdivision. In these amended covenants, the restriction on the Ranch Tract was changed from "primarily agricultural" to "The Tract is to be used for agricultural or residential purposes." *See* CP 593 (finding 72); CP 248–269 (amended covenant) at CP 262 ("Miscellaneous Use Restrictions on the Cape St. Mary Ranch Tract"). Those amended restrictions were recorded under a different auditor's file number, AF 85135021. *See* CP 577, 593 (findings 10 and 72); CP 255 (amended covenant AF 85135021). However, as the hearing examiner noted, the plat was never amended. CP 577 (finding

of fact 10). The plat has always referenced AF 117735 and no other document. The amended covenants are not referenced or mentioned on the plat.

The Court of Appeals (and every other tribunal that has reviewed this case) concluded that the plat unambiguously incorporates AF 117735 by reference on the face of the plat and that such incorporation by reference was valid:

"The common law doctrine of incorporation by reference has general usage in civil law and is recognized in Washington." The doctrine applies to government decisions when a public document "is adequately identified 'so that there is no uncertainty as to what was adopted."" ²

The plat explicitly identifies a specific document, recorded CC&Rs, as the source of additional applicable restrictions. This language is not uncertain. It is specific rather than general boilerplate language referring to external covenants and restrictions.

Decision at 9–10.

The Court of Appeals was aware of the private covenant amendment in 1985 that changed the restriction to "agricultural or residential purposes." But the Court of Appeals noted that this amendment of the private covenants

Citing, inter alia, State v. Ferro, 64 Wn. App. 195, 198, 823 P.2d 526 (1992); Scott Paper Co. v. City of Anacortes, 90 Wn.2d 19, 31, 578 P.2d 1292 (1978); Wash. State Major League Baseball Stadium Pub. Facilities Dist. v. Huber, Hunt & Nichols-Kiewit Constr. Co., 176 Wn.2d 502, 517, 296 P.3d 821 (2013); Satomi Owners Ass'n v. Satomi, LLC, 167 Wn.2d 781, 801, 225 P.3d 213 (2009).

did not amend the plat's reference to AR 117735 (the original Declaration). Decision at 4.

Because the plat to this day includes, on its face, an unambiguous incorporation of AF 117735, the Court of Appeals concluded that, under RCW 58.17.170(3)(b), the subdivision is "governed by the terms of approval of the final plat," which includes the restriction on the Ranch Tract in the original Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions recorded at AF 117735. Decision at 13–14.

The Court of Appeals also concluded that any attempt to vacate or alter the Ranch Tract would violate the restriction in the original Declaration, which requires inclusion of the Ranch Tract in the subdivision, not the removal of the Ranch Tract or the reduction of the Ranch Tract into smaller tracts. Therefore, under RCW 58.17.212 and 215, any application to vacate or alter the Ranch Tract requires the agreement signed by all members of the subdivision. Decision at 15-16.

The Court of Appeals correctly recognized that Cape St. Mary Associates' appeal is actually an "indirect attack on incorporation by reference, an issue we have resolved." *See* Decision at 14. The Decision correctly rejected the overwrought contention that "Washington property rights will be thrown into confusion" if purchasers must look to the face of their plats to discover use restrictions. *Id.* This is the same contention Cape

St. Mary Associates makes in its Petition for Review; this Court should reject it as well.

IV. ARGUMENT FOR WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Cape St. Mary Associates asks this Court to decide whether the Court of Appeals' decision is:

contrary to multiple decisions of the Washington Supreme Court and it raises a critical issue for property owners and purchasers across the state: can they rely on public property records to state the lawful uses of property, or are they subject to the unrecorded and unilateral wishes of long-gone officials?

Petition at 2.

In reality, the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with any Supreme Court decision or any other source of law. It is a straightforward application of the doctrine of incorporation by reference, which has been upheld by the Supreme Court many times in many contexts, as cited above.

Likewise, this case does not present any issue of substantial public interest. As the hearing examiner noted, "Some plats contain [conditions, covenants, and restrictions]. Many do not." CP 583 (finding 28). The plat of Cape St. Mary Estates happens to be a plat that does include restrictions, which were put there at the County's insistence. But the details of this particular plat, and how its restrictions came to be imposed, are of interest to no one other than the members of the subdivision and the County. As the

hearing examiner noted, while it might have been easier "if each and every word of a particular condition or restriction was written on the face of the plat document itself," there was nothing ambiguous about the restrictions that apply to this plat through its incorporation by reference of AF 117735. *See* CP 582–583 (findings 19–26). Nothing in the details of the Cape St. Mary Estates plat implicates the public interest.

Cape St. Mary Associates claims the Court of Appeals decision violates the holding in *Roeder Co. v. Burlington N., Inc.*, 105 Wn.2d 269, 273, 714 P.2d 1170 (1986) that, in construing a plat, the intention of the dedicator controls. On the contrary, the Court of Appeals both cited and correctly applied this rule. As the Court of Appeals explained, the restriction on the Ranch Tract was incorporated to reduce the subdivision's density. The intent to reduce density is the intent that controls. The Court correctly determined that the agricultural use restriction in Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions is aimed at reducing density.

Cape St. Mary Associates appears to be arguing that the density reduction was only the County's intent, not also their intent as dedicators of the plat. This argument is false. While Cape St. Mary Associates was not happy at being forced to include the Ranch Tract to reduce density, it ultimately acceded to the County's demands and agreed to reduce the subdivision's density. *See, e.g.*, Opening Brief of Appellant (Mar. 25, 2019)

at 1 (the "owners of the Ranch Tract agreed to add [Ranch Tract] to [Cape St. Mary Estates] under certain defined conditions"). To effectuate that purpose, it was Cape St. Mary Associates which restricted the Ranch Tract by recording AF 117735. Had it not done so, it would not have obtained approval for the subdivision at all, as it admitted. *See* CP 586–587 (findings 41–43). Thus, the intent of the dedicator was to obtain plat approval by reducing density by incorporating AF 117735 onto the face of the plat. The dedicator's "hurt feelings and disappointment" at having to include the Ranch Tract in the subdivision (*see* CP 581, finding 18) are not relevant to the question of the dedicator's intent, which was to reduce density, however unhappy about it the dedicator may have been.

Cape St. Mary Associates also claims the Court of Appeals decision violates the holding in *Hollis v. Garwall, Inc.*, 137 Wn.2d 683, 695, 974 P.2d 836 (1999) that the permissible use of extrinsic evidence does not include evidence that would show an intention independent of the instrument. This is the so-called "context rule," as articulated in *Berg v. Hudesman*, 115 Wn.2d 657, 667, 801 P.2d 222 (1990) (and cited in *Hollis* as applicable in the context of covenants):

Determination of the intent of the contracting parties is to be accomplished by viewing the contract as a whole, the subject matter and objective of the contract, all the circumstances surrounding the making of the contract, the subsequent acts and conduct of the parties to the contract, and the

reasonableness of respective interpretations advocated by the parties.

But the Court of Appeals did not use extrinsic evidence to find any intent contrary to the plat. The plat itself contained a reference to AF 117735 as a source of "further restrictions." The Court of Appeals correctly recognized that the Examiner first found that the plat unambiguously incorporated AF 117735 by reference and then noted that, even "if the plat was ambiguous, a consideration of the extrinsic evidence presented by the parties would produce the same result." Decision at 11.

Finally, Cape St. Mary Associates claims the reference to AF 117735 was nothing more than a general warning that private covenants existed, not an additional source of restrictions on the plat. In support, Cape St. Mary Associates cites *Shaffer v. Board of Trustees of Sandy Hook Yacht Club Estates, Inc.*, 76 Wn. App. 267, 274, 883 P.2d 1387 (1994). However, *Shaffer* is not a blanket holding that restrictions or covenants can never be adopted by the plat's explicit reference to a specific document. The plat in *Shaffer* contained only a bare warning that private covenants existed to which buyers would be subject. The plat did not purport to incorporate other covenants by reference. In contrast, the Cape St. Mary Estates plat explicitly and unambiguously incorporated by reference a specific set of

restrictions, identified by a specific recording number, as a source of "further restrictions."

V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals reached the correct decision in finding that the plat of Cape St. Mary Estates incorporates by reference the restrictions in AF 117735, including the restriction that the Ranch Tract be used for agricultural purposes. The Court's decision does not conflict with Supreme Court precedent or any other source of law. On the contrary, the decision is firmly grounded in case law. This case does not present an issue of substantial public interest, but only the interpretation of one specific plat's restrictions. Therefore, this Court should deny review.